IN THE SUPREME COURT IN AND FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA

JAMES W. HAZEN	:	
Appellant		
	:	
VS.		
	:	CASE NO. 84,645
STATE OF FLORIDA		Cir. Court Case
		N0.93-3302CF
Appellee	:	

t , ¹ ...,

FILED

SID J. WHITE

FEB 19 1996

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Citter Deputy Cherk

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Lynn A. Williams Attorney At Law 902-A N. Gadsden Street Tallahassee Florida 32303 Fla. Bar I.D. 195484 (04) 224-2146

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a sentence of death.

:

Appellant, James W. Hazen, was **the** defendant in the trial court below and will **be** referred to in this brief as appellant or Hazen.

References to the record, transcript, and supplemental transcript will be referred to as "R", "T", and "S"respectively, followed by the appropriate page number. There is also a volume dated September 23, 1994 which is not consecutively numbered and which contains the sentencing proceedings. This volume will be referred to as S followed by the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellant, James Hazen, along with Curtis D. Buffkin and Johnny Kormondy, was indicted for premeditated and/or felony first degree murder of Gary McAdams, three counts of sexual battery against Cecilia McAdams by threatening with a weapon(a firearm) or the use of actual physical force likely to cause serious personal injury, one count of burglary and committing a battery while therein, and one count of armed robbery (R 2-4). Hazen was tried separately from Buffkin and Kormondy.

The case proceeded to jury trial.

Harold Cole testified that **he** lived next door to Gary and Cecilia McAdams in **the** Thousand Oaks subdivision (T 504-505). On July 11, 1993 Cole was awakened about one or one-fifteen in the morning by his wife who heard a noise. A few seconds later Cole **saw** Cecilia McAdams come out of her garage door hysterical, **dressed** in a **towel** which was wrapped around her, and screaming that Gary had been shot. Cole approached Ms. McAdams and asked if there was anyone **else** in the house. Ms. McAdams answered no, at which point Cole and Ms. McAdams went through the garage and kitchen door into the McAdams home (T 506-508; T 516-517).

Cole observed Mr. McAdams lying on the kitchen floor.

Cole escorted Ms. McAdams to her bedroom so that she could dress. Cole then went back to Mr. McAdams. **Cole** observed gasping or lip movement from Mr.McAdams and saw Mr. McAdams

pupils dilating (T 510). Ms. McAdams was coming back up the hall, screaming and asking if Gary was dead. Cole went to the kitchen door and yelled to his wife on their front porch to call 911 and a neighbor, Mr. Andrews (T 511).

Ms. McAdams was stating that they had raped her. Cole was trying to calm her down. Cole's daughter arrived and took Ms. McAdams into a back bedroom (T511-513).

Larry Andrews, a neighbor, went to the McAdarns' house in response to Ms. Cole's phone call at 1:45 in the morning of July 11, 1993. Andrews saw Cole standing in the house visibly upset, and Mr.McAdams on the floor, still breathing. Andrews left for a moment to get his glasses. When he returned, Ms. McAdams was standing three or four feet away from Mr. McAdams. She was repeating 'why did they do this, they told us if we did what they told us, they wouldn't hurt us." She also said that they even raped me. Andrews told Cole's daughter not to let Ms.McAdams back in the kitchen (T 518-521).

Andrews observed the bedroom to be in total disarray and almost knee deep, every drawer looked like it was piled up on the floor.

In the kitchen there was a bottle of Corona beer lying on the floor against the wall. There were also **some** Whataburger breakfast sandwiches lying on the counter that looked like they were partially eaten (T 520-521).

Mr. Fred Kennedy, an Escambia County Deputy, was in charge of the identification and crime scene units. Kennedy found no identifiable prints at the scene other than those that could be matched to Cecilia McAdams and Gary McAdams. Kennedy found two smudges that were consistent with fabric marks on the telephone receiver and on the Corona beer bottle. Kennedy could not identify the exact fabric. On direct examination by the state, Kennedy agreed the fabric was consistent with socks (T524-528).

Kennedy also testified that he assisted in putting together a video tape of the scene. Over appellant's objection, the video, State's Exhibit 2-B, was admitted into evidence (T 528-529).

Kennedy narrated, through questioning **by** the state, as the video was shown *to* the jury. The video included a picture of Mr.McAdams "as we found him" (T 530) with what appeared to be droplets of blood at his feet (T 531).

Also included in the video was an open breakfast sandwich, tacquita sauce, a Corona **beer** bottle, and a pair of ladies shoes (T 532-533). In the first bedroom on **the** right, which appeared to be an office or guest room, there was a phone whose **wire** had been torn, jerked out, or violently removed. A partially obscured phone in a second bedroom was in working order (T 534).

The master bedroom was in disarray and everything appeared to **be** strewn around. A ladies silk dress was in the vanity area.

A telephone in the bedroom was jerked out of the wall (T 535).

7 1

Kennedy then observes on another portion of the video, toward the end of the video, that Mr. McAdams' body has been turned over, and there are splatter marks on the wall (T 536-537).

Deputy Paul Rice found a towel, marked as State's Exhibit 37-A, on the bed of the master bedroom (T 549). Also recovered from the scene was a green silk dress [State's Exhibit 21] from the dressing room immediately off the master bedroom (T 551-552). A bullet fragment, [State's Exhibit 9] was found underneath the carpet and pad in the vanity area of the master bedroom. The fragment was located by a large blackened area on the surface of the carpet (T 552).

Taylor attended the autopsy of Mr. McAdams, and identified State's Exhibit 10 as the bullet that Dr. McConnell removed from Mr. McAdams' brain (T 553).

Dr. McConnell, the medical examiner, who performed the autopsy on Mr. McAdams, testified that Mr. McAdams died from a contact gunshot wound to the head going in to the back side of the left side of the head and traveling in a forward direction.

McConnell identified State's Exhibit 10 as the bullet he recovered during the autopsy. He stated the bullet was flattened into a mushroom shape because of the bullet's contact with the front of the skull.

McConnell further testified that the wound was a contact wound. Extensive soot was on the entrance wound and on the bone underlying the wound. Soot occurs in this manner when the barrel is pressed tightly against **the** skin and the unburned powder is carried into the wound. McConnell also found a split in the wound where the gases went into and underneath the scalp. This occurs in a contact wound **because** the scalp is attached to the underlying bone, and the gases from the firing of the firearm get underneath the **skin**, blow it apart, and cause the skin to split in that area. (T 560-566).

McConnell further testified that the wound would have immobilized Ms. McAdams immediately, causing immediate loss of memory and physical function. Despite the fact that Mr. McAdams made some noises or sounds after the gunshot wound, McConnell opined that Mr. McAdams was probably brain dead at the time and it was not unexpected that some breathing would occur subsequent to brain death (T 567-568).

Mr. McAdams blood alcohol level was .02; there was an alcohol level of .78 in the stomach. This indicated that the alcohol intake was still in the absorption stage at the time of death. Mr.McAdams was not legally intoxicated. The alcohol level findings were consistent with a person who had a drink or two earlier in the evening and also had a drink right before his death (T 568-569).

Ms. McAdams testified that on July 11, 1993 she and her husband attended a high school reunion. They left the reunion at 12:40 a.m., went through the drive-thru at a Whataburger restaurant, bought two Taquitas and a cup of coffee, and then returned to their home at 11561 Havenwood Road in the Thousand Oaks Subdivision (T 576-581).

Mr. McAdams used the automatic garage door opener and drove their car in the garage. They left the garage door up because they were going to be taking their dog out for a walk. After going through the kitchen door, Ms. McAdams kicked her shoes off, **she** and **her** husband put **the** food and some odds and ends on the kitchen bar, and Mr.McAdams went into the bathroom to pick up the dog (T 582-584).

They were standing in the middle of the kitchen floor when they heard a knock at the kitchen door. Mr. McAdams asked who it was and a voice answered, "It's me". Mr. McAdams opened the door and they saw a man standing there in the garage with a gun pointed at them.

The man, who Ms. McAdams identified at trial as **Darryl** Buffkin, by identifying a photograph [State's Exhibit 161 of Buffkin, told the McAdams' to put their heads down or he would blow their head off (T 584-587). The McAdams stared **at** Buffkin in shock. Buffkin then repeated his order, and the McAdams got down on the floor and put their heads down.

Ms. McAdams heard two other people enter the house. She saw two more sets of feet, and was told by "them" that "they" were closing the blinds and ripping out the phone cord. "They" then asked for money and car keys. Mr. McAdams threw what he had in his pocket on the floor-- his wallet, money, and car **keys** and Ms. McAdams told them her purse was on the counter and her keys were in it.

Buffkin stayed and was telling them to keep their head down and to what they were told. Ms. McAdams could hear the others in the back of the house. She could hear drawers being pulled out.

One of the individuals came back, presumably with a pistol Mr. McAdams kept in his drawer, and asked "who do you think you're going to hurt with this". Mr. McAdams replied, "No one", "They" then walked up behind Ms. McAdams, ran the pistol up her hip, and told her to come with "them". Ms. McAdams avoided looking at the men because she had been told not to look and was fearful she and her husband would be killed if she did look (T 588-590).

Both Mr. and Ms. McAdams begged them not to do this. Ms. McAdams told her husband to do what they told him because she would be alright.

Ms. McAdams was taken to the vanity area of her bedroom and sexually assaulted. Ms. McAdams stated that when she first went to the vanity area she was wearing a green silk dress. Before

the sexual assaults, she removed the dress. One of the perpetrators forcibly removed a tampax from her. One of the perpetrators put his penis in her mouth, and threatened to kill Ms. McAdams if she let it out of her mouth. At the same time, another individual assaulted her by putting his penis in her vagina. The two men bragged about it as they were assaulting her (T 590-592; T595-596).

Ms. McAdams observed that one of the two men assaulting her had mousy, dishwater-blond, stringy hair and something pulled up over his head which covered part of his face. Ms. McAdams did not notice if the other person had a mask on. When asked by the prosecutor if "anyone of them had gloves or socks on their hands", she replied "socks on their hands" (T592-593).

Upon viewing State's Exhibit 15, a picture of Shane Kormondy, Ms. McAdams said she recognized part of his hair and his facial features. She was also able to say it was not the hair of the man that came in the door with the gun [Buffkin] nor the hair as depicted in a picture of Hazen [State's Exhibit 17] (T 593).

Ms. McAdams was taken naked back to the kitchen and kneeled down in front of her husband. She reached out to take her husband's hand but "they" yelled at her to let him go, that "they" had not said she could touch him, so she dropped his hand (T 596).

"They" found a beer in the refrigerator, slammed it down between Mr. and Ms. McAdams, and said, "drink it" (T 596). Mr. McAdams drank some of the beer (T 596).

Ms. McAdams was then taken back to the bedroom. When they got back in the bedroom, the person who took her back there said, "I don't know what the other two did to you, but you're going to like what I'm going to do" (T 596-597). He then **sexually** assaulted Ms. McAdams by putting his penis **in** her vagina. During **this** time, Ms. McAdams heard a gunshot and screamed her husband's name. She did not **get** a response (T 597). "They" then called out for the person in the bedroom. He jumped **up**, threw a tan **colored** towel over Ms. McAdams head, and then Ms. McAdams heard a gunshot in the bedroom (T 598).

Ms. McAdams ran into the kitchen and found Mr. McAdams lying on the floor with blood around his head. She thought he was alive because **there** his mouth was moving. She at first tried to call for help, but then remembered the phones had been pulled out. She covered herself with the tan towel and ran outside. At that time she ran into her neighbor who was on his way across to her yard. Ms. McAdams was screaming and the neighbor asked her to please quit screaming. Ms. McAdams returned to her house and stayed until the emergency medical services and law enforcement officers arrived (T 597-599).

There were items taken from the home, including numerous

purses, jewelry, watches, rings, a pistol, cash, and car keys (T 607-608).

. . .

Mrs. McAdams was **examined** at the hospital at about five in the morning. Mrs. McAdams told the examining nurse that she had been orally assaulted and that one of the perpetrators had ejaculated **in** her mouth and forced **her** to swallow it. Vaginal swabs were taken (T 601).

Prior to the state calling Ms. McAdams as a witness, the defense attorney moved in limine to preclude Ms. McAdams from making any statements in regard to identifying Hazen based upon having seen Hazen in court previously. The prosecutor agreed that Ms. McAdams was expected to testify that she recognized Hazen from seeing him in court, but not from seeing him at the house when the crime was committed. The trial judge commented that since Ms. McAdams was not going to say she had seen Hazen before at the house, that "I don't know that that's particularly harmful'' (T 572). The defense attorney responded that the testimony was not relevant, that the jury could conclude it was a type of an identification, and that there was no need for the testimony. The trial judge then ruled, "I'm not going to preclude the **State** from doing that provided it's absolutely clear in your questioning that the identification was such that it was, that she recognizes him from other court appearances pertaining to this case" (T 572).

Mrs. McAdams **testified** that **she** attended a court hearing in Courtroom 401 where Buffkin, Kormondy, and Hazen were scheduled for a court appearance with their attorneys. Mrs. McAdams was sitting in the audience section behind the prosecutor's table. The courtroom was crowded and there was standing room only (T 602-604). Mrs. McAdams immediately recognized Curtis Buffkin. She also saw 'the individual in the other photograph [the prosecutor] showed [her] with the long scraggly hair or [someone] who looked like him" (T 603).

The prosecutor then elicited the following testimony from Mrs. McAdarns:

Q: [prosecutor] Now while you were seated in that courtroom, did anybody who you did not recognize, someone who you didn't apparently believe you knew, anybody look strange at you.

A: [Ms. McAdams] Yes sir, they did.

Q: If you see that person in the courtroom today would you point to them and speak their name as you know their name?

A: James Hazen.

Mr. Edgar [prosecutor]: Your Honor, I would like the record to reflect the witness identified this defendant as the person she saw in the court on this case.

A: Yes, sir.

The Court: The record will so reflect (T 604).

. . . .

', ',

Q: Would you **tell** the jurors what you noticed about him noticing you?

A: Okay, I was sitting there in the seat and this person kept looking at me but not really willing to make eye contact with me. Whenever I would catch him looking at me, he would look away and it was more of worried look or a --- (T 605)

. . .

7 · ·

Q: Would you characterize in your description this defendant's manner in which he looked at you in court?

A: He was, he appeared uncomfortable. He was unwilling to make eye contact with me. Whenever I looked at him because I could see that he was looking at me, he would look away. I would look away and then I would catch him looking at me again and it was a worried, uncomfortable look (T 606).

. . .

Q: And at that time did you think you knew this person?

A: No, sir.

Q: Did you wonder about that?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: Later during that same court proceeding while you were sitting there, did **they** call that person's name, this defendant's name.

A: Yes, sir, they did.

Q: And you heard the name?

A: Yes, sir (T 606-607).

Ms. Jane Hatcher, a registered nurse, performed an

examination on Ms. McAdams, Hatcher identified State's Exhibit

38-A as the tampax collected from Ms. McAdams (which she had used subsequent to the assault but before the examination) and State's Exhibit 36-A as blood drawn from Ms. McAdams (T 640-643).

· · ·

At a later time, Hatcher also drew blood from **Buffkin** (State's Exhibits 35-A), Kormondy (State's Exhibit 41), and Hazen (State's Exhibit 42) (T 644).

Magda Clanton, a forensic serologist with Florida Department of Law Enforcement, examined various items.

Clanton performed tests to determine the secretor status of the individuals she tested as well as their blood type.' Mr. and Mrs. McAdams were both non-secretors with blood type A (T 651). Kormondy was a secretor with blood type A, Buffkin was a secretor with blood type B, and Hazen was a secretor with blood type A (T 651-652).

Clanton found semen or sperm on the vaginal swabs, the tampons, and a tan towel (T 650). Clanton was unable to detect blood factors from **the** semen stain on the towel. Clanton opined that this could be due to an insufficient amount of semen for testing (T 652).

Present on the vaginal swabs and tampon were blood types A

¹ A "secretor" has detectable amounts of their blood type in their saliva, and in their vaginal fluid or semen. In a "non-secretor", blood type cannot be detected in their saliva, or in their vaginal fluid or semen.

and $B.^2$

Clanton requested DNA testing on the tampon, the vaginal swabs, the liquid blood samples, two panties from Mrs. McAdams, a blue throw rug, jeans and white socks belonging to Kormondy (T 658-661; T663).

Clanton testified that the results of DNA testing are sent from the testing lab to the State Attorney's Office. Clanton said she was not sure if the results were generally given to the defense (T 664).

Valerie Kormondy, wife of Johnny Shane Kormondy, testified that in July, 1993, Curtis Darrell Buffkin, a friend of her husband's, came and stayed several days at their home at 6813 **Pine** Forest Road. When anyone came to the door, Buffkin would hide (T 694-696).

On Saturday, July 10, 1993 Valerie went with Shane Kormondy to a family reunion in Cantonment. They drove Shane Kormondy's camaro.

Valerie described the camaro as silver, a black 2-28 bra on the front, a dent on the left-hand side, and a silver Bad Boy sticker on the back and identified State's Exhibits 18, 19, and 20 identified as pictures of the camaro (T 701).

Shane and Valerie ran into Hazen at the reunion. Shane

² Also present was type H. This is present as a precursor building block and is present in Blood types A, B, and $\mathbf{0}$ (T 652-653).

Kormondy told Valerie that Hazen was going to come back to their house and Shane, Valerie, and Hazen drove back to the Kormondy house in Shane's camaro.

· ′ ·

Amy Bradley and James Popejoy, friends of Valerie, stopped by the house. Around five or six in the evening, Shane Kormondy, Buffkin, and Hazen left the house. They were gone for one or two hours, and returned about seven. They left again about nine in the evening in Shane Kormondy's camaro (T 697-701).

Bradley and Popejoy left at midnight, and Valerie went to bed at one in the morning (T 702). Valerie woke up about five in the morning, and saw Shane Kormondy, Buffkin, and Hazen awake and dressed sitting in the living room (T 702). Valerie went back to bed and got up again about seven. She went to the family owned bait store in front of her house. Shortly after that, Lane Barrett, Shane Kormondy's mother, called on the phone for Hazen. Barrett asked Valerie to take Hazen to the Food Max on Pine Forest Road, because Barrett and Hazen were going fishing (T 705).

After showering and dressing, Valerie and Hazen went to the car. Valerie testified that she opened the door and saw a bag of jewelry. Valerie further testified, "and I asked him -- I'm not sure if these were my exact words. I said James, did y'all rob anyone last night? He said yes, we did. When I started to ask him more detailed questions about it, he started to shut up and

he said well, 1 really don't remember anything because I was drunk (T706-707). In response to leading questions, Valerie agreed that Hazen acted nervous and different that morning (T 706-707).

Valerie dropped off Hazen and returned to her home. She woke up Shane Kormondy and told Shane that he and Buffkin had to leave (T 707).

Valerie heard and read news accounts of the break-in and shooting death of Mr. McAdams. She called Crime Stoppers and attempted to remain anonymous (T707-709). Valerie disputed that she called because there was a reward offered (T 708).

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