IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE MAR 29 1996

CLERK SUPREME COURT Deputy Clerk

JAMES W. HAZEN,

Appellant,

v.

Case #: 84,645

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWFR BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

GYPSY BAILEY Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar #0797200

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

TALLE OF CONTENTS

<u>Page(s)</u>

TABLEOFCONTENTS	i
TABLE OF CITATIONS	ii
PRELIMINARY STATEMENT	1
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS	1
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT	2
ARGUMENT	4

ISSUE ONE

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

[Defense]: Of course, your see what my concern is, Judge. If the example is that six have voted for death and five have not, that even though the other one did not vote, that six does not constitute a majority.

[Court] : Right.

¹¹ <u>Sealso</u> (R172).

[Defense]: And, therefore, death would not be an option.

[Court]: Their vote does not say that this is what we have come to so far. It says example. Now, whether that example coincides with where they are in their deliberations, I have no way of knowing, and I don't think it would be proper for the Court to inquire.

[State] : I should point out for the record, and I think this should be clear, this question apparently was brought or they wrote out the question within minutes, probably no more than five or ten minutes after retiring. So I can only infer that this was something that somebody wanted to know right off and somebody else probably balanced that with the idea, well, if it's really not necessary, then we can just get on with it giving deference to your position. I don't seriously think -- I hope they did not seriously -- I don't think the evidence would suggest they seriously have fully deliberated on this, on a man's life in ten minutes.

[Court] : I would hope they would not do that.

[Defense]: For the sake of the record, I cannot offer any objections to what the Court proposed to do. However, I cannot acquiesce in that.

[Court] : Right, I understand. I'm simply going to answer the question that it is not permissible for a juror to abstain from voting, period.

[State]: No objection to that, Your Honor.

[Court] : All right. Bring them in.

(Jury present.)

[Court]: I'm sorry to interrupt your lunch.

[Juror] : We're almost finished.

[Court]: Well, you eat quickly then. All right. Be seated then. The Court recognizes for the record that the entire jury panel is present in the courtroom. I have read your question and the answer to the question is that it is not legally permissible for a juror to abstain from voting. Does that answer the question?

[Juror]: Yes, sir, it does.

(T 1459-63). The jury subsequently recommended death by a vote of seven to five (T 1465) .

Initially, this issue does not appear to be preserved for appellate review. As the record shows, while defense counsel stated he could not acquiesce in the trial court's action, he very clearly did not object and in fact stated that he was "going to leave [the decision] to the judgment of the Court." (T 1459). Thus, any error on this point was invited by counsel, and this Court should decline to address it. <u>White <u>v.</u> State, 446 So. 2d 1031, 1035 (Fla. 1984); <u>Pope v. State</u>, 441 So. 2d 1073, 1076 (Fla. 1983); <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 359 so. 2d 1190, 1194 (Fla. 1978); <u>Sullivan v. State</u>, 303 So. 2d 632, 635 (Fla. 1974). <u>See Derrick v.</u> State, 641 So. 2d 378 (Fla. 1994) (involving a similar issue, this</u> Court found that, because Derrick's counsel had agreed to the judge's reinstruction, Derrick had waived his right to appeal); <u>Cave V. State</u>, 476 so. 2d 180 (Fla. 1985) (the judge's response to the jury's query, "with the positive approval and without objection of the defense counsel, was the correct response.").¹²

In the event this Court reaches the merits of this point, Hazen contends the trial court's response was erroneous, because implicit in this response was the instruction 'that no intervening event or change of heart had occurred which made that particular juror feel they could not render an impartial and fair verdict. Without any inquiry, this was an assumption without basis in fact. Thus, the jury's subsequent recommendation of death was a nullity." Initial Brief at 96. Hazen's position is both untenable and unsupported.

It is clear that the trial court's instruction was legally correct. In <u>Pangburn v. State</u>, 661 So. 2d 1182, 1188 (Fla. 1995), this Court recounted: "Section 921.141, Florida Statutes (1991), which governs the penalty phase proceeding in a capital case, provides that **a** jury is to render to the court an advisory sentence

¹² Furthermore, any error on this point is not fundamental in nature and thus requires an objection for appellate review. <u>See Armstrong v. State</u>, 364 So. 2d 1238 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977) (not fundamental error to give standard jury deadlock instruction in absence of deadlocked jury; objection required).

of either life imprisonment or death." <u>See also</u> Fla. Stat. § 921.141(1), (2) (1993) ("Upon conviction or adjudication of guilt of a defendant of a capital felony . . . the jury <u>shall</u> . . . render an advisory sentence.") (emphasis added). Similarly, at the close of the penalty phase, the trial court instructed the jurors that it was their duty to advise the court as to punishment (T 1453-54).¹³

Furthermore, the jury's question did not indicate a deadlock or impasse, but simply indicated **a** preliminary vote. **Cases** from this Court support the trial court's response in this matter. In <u>Rose V. State</u>, 425 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 1982), the trial court gave the standard jury deadlock instruction to the jury during the penalty phase after the jury sent out a note during deliberations: "We are tied six to six, and no one will change their mind at the moment." <u>Id.</u> at 525. This Court held that the trial court should not have read the deadlock instruction, but should have advised the jury that it was not necessary to have a majority and that, if seven jurors did not vote to recommend death, the recommendation was life imprisonment. See <u>also Rose v. State</u>, 461 So. 2d 84 (Fla. 1984). Implicit in this decision was that all twelve jurors would vote.

 $^{^{13}}$ As noted by the trial court in ruling on the jury question, the topic of rendering an advisory sentence was explored extensively during voir d_{ire} (T 230-430).
In Cave, the jury delivered a note to the court during deliberations: 'We are at a split decision. We would like it stated and published to the Court of this advisory sentence. The current form does not **allow** for this revelation. Please advise." 476 So. 2d at 186. With the agreement of defense counsel and the prosecutor, the trial court reinstructed the jury that a vote of 6 to 6 was an advisory sentence of life imprisonment. Id. Eight minutes after this reinstruction, the jury returned a vote of 7 to 5 in favor of a death sentence.

On appeal to this Court, Cave argued that the jury's initial request constituted a 6 to 6 vote for life. This Court disagreed, noting that "the query referred to a split decision, not a 6-6 vote. Neither the judge nor the parties could know whether the 'split decision' referred to an 11-1, 6-6, or 1-11 vote on the death penalty. Thus, the judge's response, with the positive approval and without objection of the defense counsel, was the correct response." Id.

In <u>Derrick</u>, the jury sent the following note to the judge during deliberations: "Upon voting on such case, the jury has ended with **a** vote count of equal amount, six votes for death and six votes for life." 641 So. 2d at 379. The judge, with consent from counsel, reinstructed the jury that the advisory verdict did

not have to be unanimous, that a death recommendation must be made by a majority, and that a life recommendation may be made by either a majority or a tie vote of six to six. The jury returned a death recommendation by a vote of seven to five.

On appeal, Derrick argued that instead of reinstructing the jury and sending it back for further deliberation, the judge should have instructed the jury to sign the life sentence recommendation, and relied on <u>Rose</u> and <u>Patten v. State</u>, 467 So. 2d 975 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied.</u> 474 U.S. 876 (1985). This Court found first that, because Derrick's counsel had agreed to the judge's action, Derrick had waived his right to appeal. This Court then found that, if the issue were not barred, the reinstruction was proper:

In <u>Rose</u> and <u>Patten</u>, the instruction which we deemed improper was an <u>Allen</u> charge. In the instant case, the court did not given an Allen charge in response to the jury inquiry. Instead, the court followed our directive in Rose and reinstructed the jury that, if seven jurors do not vote to recommend death, then the recommendation is life imprisonment. This instruction is not, as Derrick contends, coercive. The fact that the jury subsequently returned with seven to five a death recommendation merely indicates that their original vote was a preliminary one and that a juror changed his or her mind.

<u>Id.</u> at 380.

Hazen's contention that the trial court should have conducted an inquiry into the circumstances surrounding the jury's question is unfounded. Any such testimony would have "essentially inhered" in the sentencing recommendation as it would have related what occurred in the jury room during the jury's deliberations. <u>See</u> Fla. Stat. § 90.607(2)(b) (1993). See also Johnson v. State, 593 so. 2d 206, 210 (Fla. 1992); <u>Songer v. State</u>, 463 So. 2d 229 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 472 U.S. 1012 (1985).

<u>Issue IV</u>

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING MRS. MCADAMS TO TESTIFY ABOUT HAZEN'S STARING AT HER AT HIS ARRAIGNMENT.

The decision to admit evidence is committed to the sound discretion of the trial court, and such a decision should not be disturbed on appeal absent a **showing** of abuse of discretion. <u>Muchleman v. State</u>, **503 so. 2d 310, 315** (Fla. 1987); <u>Jent v. State</u>, 408 So. 2d 1024 (Fla. 1981), <u>cert. denied</u>, 457 U.S. **1111 (1982)**. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in permitting Mrs. McAdams to testify that she <u>saw Hazen</u> staring at her during his arraignment, because this testimony was relevant to rebut <u>Hazen's</u> theory of innocence that he was not at the <u>McAdams'</u> home during the commission of the instant crimes.

Before Mrs. McAdams took the stand, defense counsel moved in limine at the bench to preclude her from 'making any statements in regards to identifying my client based upon having seen him in court previously." (T 572). The following dialogue ensued:

[Court]: She's going to be able to **say** that she has seen him before and she's seen him in court before and recognizes him from being in court?

[State] : But not at the house.

[Court] : But not at the house. I don't know that that's particularly harmful.

[Defense]: I don't know whether it's relevant, The jury may conclude that that is some type of identification. I think in abundance of caution, there's no need for it.

[Court] : I'm not going to preclude the State from doing that provided it's absolutely clear in your questioning that the identification was such that it was, that she recognizes him from other court appearances pertaining to this case.

[State]: Right. Right.

[Court] : As long as it's clear. If it [] come[s] across as being clear, I think that's legitimate inquiry.

[State] : You're objecting to her identifying him?

[Defense] : Okay.
[State] : I'll make it real clear.
[Defense] : All right.

(T 572-03).

During direct examination, the state asked Mrs. McAdams about Hazen's staring at her during his arraignment (T 602-07);¹⁴ defense counsel made no objection (T 608). During cross examination, defense counsel pursued this line of questioning (T 610-18). The state asked a few more questions about this incident during

¹⁴ Mrs. McAdams did not know at the time that "this person" was Hazen, one of the perpetrators (T 607). She simply noticed "this person" staring at her and glancing away every time she made eye contact with him (T 606, 614).

redirect examination with no defense objection (T 618). When the trial moved to the courtroom where Hazen's arraignment occurred, defense counsel continued cross examination of Mrs. McAdams about this incident (T 627-30); the state, redirect examination (T 631-33); defense, recross examination (T 634-35); the state, more redirect examination (T 635-36); and defense, more recross examination (T 636-37).¹⁵

Hazen claims that the relevance of this testimony was minimal and the prejudice was overwhelming. Initial Brief at 98. Hazen, however, acquiesced to the state's agreement to 'make it clear" that Mrs. McAdams could not identify Hazen from the scene of the crimes, and did not object to her testimony **at** the time it was introduced into evidence. Defense counsel then vigorously pursued this line of questioning with Mrs. McAdams, and rebutted her testimony with that of Hazen. Hazen explained that, during his arraignment, he looked at Mrs. McAdams, whom he did not know at the time, because he saw her sitting in the venire and thought she was

¹⁵ The state later recalled Mrs. McAdams, but did <u>not</u> pursue its questioning about Hazen's staring at her during his arraignment. Instead, the state asked Mrs. McAdams to describe the builds of the perpetrators she observed on the night in question; Mrs. McAdams did so, naming Kormondy, Buffkin, and Hazen (T 1030). Defense counsel moved for a mistrial and asked for a curative instruction, which the trial court gave (T 1031-35). All jurors indicated that they understood (T 1036). Defense counsel renewed his motion for a mistrial, which the trial court denied (T 1036).

the victim and that the state had placed her there to identify him (T 1071).

This Court should decline to address the merits of this issue for two distinct reasons. First, the issue is procedurally barred, because defense counsel failed to object when Mrs. McAdams testified on this point. Correll v. State, 523 So. 2d 562, 566 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 488 U. S. 871 (1988); <u>Phillips v. State</u>, 476 so. 2d 194 (Fla. 1985); Bonham v. State, 450 So. 2d 269 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984); German v. State, 379 So. 2d 1013 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980); <u>Crespo v. State</u>, 379 So. 2d 191 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980); <u>Jones v.</u> State, 360 So. 2d 1293 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978). Second, for defense counsel to acquiesce to the state's agreement to "make it clear" that Mrs. McAdams could identify Hazen only from his appearance at arraignment, pursue this line of questioning so vigorously with both the victim and Hazen, and then claim error on appeal is nothing less than inviting error, a tactic which has been disapproved soundly by this Court on numerous occasions. White v. State, 446 So. 2d 1031, 1035 (Fla. 1984); Pope v. State, 441 So. 2d 1073, 1076 (Fla. 1983); Jackson v. State, 359 So. 2d 1190, 1194 (Fla. 1978); <u>Sullivan v. State</u>, 303 So. 2d 632, 635 (Fla. 1974).

In the event this Court reaches the merits of this claim, it is clear that the state introduced this evidence for the purpose of

adding one more piece to the puzzle of evidence against Hazen, and to rebut Hazen's theory of innocence. Although the state had Valerie Kormondy and Buffkin's testimony, which fully implicated Hazen in the charged offenses, the state also sought to prove Hazen's guilt through circumstantial evidence, i.e., Hazen's fingerprints found in Kormondy's vehicle and threads from the victim's dress found on the seats where each of the co-defendants sat in Kormondy's vehicle. The staring incident was just one more piece of circumstantial evidence. <u>See Larzelere v. State</u>, Case No. 81,793, slip op. at 21 (Fla. Mar. 28, 1996); <u>Anderson v. State</u>, 574 so. 2d 87, 93 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 502 U. S. 834 (1991); <u>Straight</u> <u>v. State</u>, 397 So. 2d 903, 908 (Fla. 1981); <u>State v. Young</u>, 217 So. 2d 567, 571 (Fla. 1968).

Additionally, Hazen's theory of innocence was that he was not at the McAdams' house while the crimes were committed, but was at Kormondy's home waiting for Kormondy and Buffkin to return. However, through introduction of Hazen's staring at Mrs. McAdams at arraignment, the state offered legitimate, relevant rebuttal of this theory, i.e., Hazen was at the scene, participated in the crimes of burglary, sexual battery, and murder, and recognized the surviving victim at his arraignment:

Now, he's from Ponca City, Oklahoma and he sees a woman who's from Pensacola. He sees a woman who he's never met before supposedly, a woman whose house he's never been in supposedly, whose picture has never been in the paper, whose picture has never been on television. And what does he do? He stares back at her. And when she sees him she stares back. He looks away. He stares back. She sees him, he looks away. He identified Mrs. McAdams.

(T 1221-22).

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